

## MEETING NOTIFICATION January 24, 2022 6:30 p.m.

In response to the COVID-19 virus, the meeting will be conducted via participation by phone or computer. Participants can access the meeting as follows:

#### Join Zoom Meeting

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86017546524?pwd=eE1FTnZSMHg3OHBEb2tuREU4em1ZUT09

Meeting ID: 860 1754 6524
Passcode: 292944
One tap mobile
+12532158782,,86017546524#,,,,\*292944# US (Tacoma)
+13462487799,,86017546524#,,,,\*292944# US (Houston)

#### **AGENDA**

- Roll Call
- Agenda Review
- Disclosures
- Public Comment (non-agenda items)
- Community Media Center Updates
  - MetroEast
  - Open Signal
- Franchisee Activity Report
  - Ziply
  - Comcast

#### \*CONSENT AGENDA - NO DISCUSSION

All items listed below may be enacted by one motion and approved as consent agenda items. Any item may be removed from the consent agenda and considered separately if a member of the Commission so requests.

C1. December 13, 2021 Meeting Minutes

#### **REGULAR AGENDA**

\*R1. Awarding Grant Dollars Through Amendments Policy 10min \*R2. Grant Amendment: CETI 10min \*R3. Preliminary Funding Decisions: 2022 Community Technology Grants 45min \*R4. Authorize Moss Adams for MHCRC FY2021-22, FY2022-23, and FY2023-24 10min **Fund Audits** \*R5. MHCRC Planning Retreat Goals 3min

- Staff Updates
  - 2021 Year-End Complaint Report
  - MHCRC Annual Planning Retreat
  - MHCRC FY22-23 Budget Process
  - NDIA Net Inclusion Conference February 15-17
- Committee Reports
  - Finance Committee
  - Equity Committee
  - Policy Committee
  - Open Signal Board Appointee
  - MetroEast Board Appointee
- New Business; Commissioner Open Comment
  - Hybrid meetings
  - 2022 Meeting Schedule:
    - Tentative: March 5 MHCRC Retreat
    - March 21April: Recess
    - May 16
    - June 20
- Public Comment
- Adjourn

Please notify the MHCRC no less than five (5) business days prior to our event for ADA accommodations at 503-823-5385, by the City of Portland's TTY at 503-823-6868, or by the Oregon Relay Service at 1-800-735-2900.

<sup>\*</sup>Denotes possible action item



#### Notice of Mt. Hood Cable Regulatory Commission Executive Session

Date: Monday, January 24, 2022

Subject: Cable Franchise Renewal

Location: Virtual - Zoom

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86017546524?pwd=eE1FTnZSMHg3OHBEb2tuREU4em1ZUT09

Meeting ID: 860 1754 6524

Passcode: 292944 One tap mobile

+12532158782,,86017546524#,,,,\*292944# US (Tacoma)

Contact: Elisabeth Perez, MHCRC Staff Director, (503) 823-8174

The MHCRC will hold an executive session after its January 24, 2022 regular meeting to consult with the Commission's legal counsel regarding the MHCRC's legal rights and duties regarding franchise renewal, as provided under ORS 192.660(2)(f).

Representatives of the news media and designated staff shall be allowed to attend. All other members of the audience are asked to leave the room. Representatives of the news media are specifically directed not to report on any of the deliberations during the executive session, except to state the general subject of the session as previously announced. No recording of the executive session is allowed without express permission from the Commission. No final decision may be made in executive session.

## **CONSENT AGENDA – NO DISCUSSION**

All items listed on the consent agenda may be enacted by one motion and approved as consent agenda items. Any item may be removed from the consent agenda and considered separately if a member of the Commission so requests.



MT. HOOD CABLE REGULATORY COMMISSION
Remote Meeting via phone or computer – Portland OR
December 13, 2021 Meeting Minutes – DRAFT

#### **SUMMARY MINUTES**

Call to Order: 6:30 PM by Chair Studenmund

Chair Studenmund welcomed Ava Hansen, new executive assistant to MHCRC/OCT. Hansen gave a short personal introduction.

#### Roll Call

#### Present:

Commissioner McIntire; Commissioner Dennerline; Commission Thomas; Commissioner Brown (6:40 PM); Vice Chair Harden; and Chair Studenmund.

#### Absent:

Commissioner Roche.

#### **Agenda Review:**

Disclosures: None

Public Comment (Non-Agenda Items): None

#### Community Media Centers Updates

- Open Signal: Rebecca Burrell, Director of Strategy presented updates along with a PowerPoint presentation.
  - Director Burrell recapped a COVID-friendly screening of seasonal production cohorts.
     They are working more closely with MHCRC to provide customized training especially amongst community members. Their program has reportedly been wildly successful.
     100% of participants are from mission communities including: BIPOC, ELL, low economic earners, and people experiencing disabilities. Some have returned to apply as producers. Director Burrell shared a participant in Black Filmmakers Cohort, Renee Mitchell's, personal insight into the program.
  - Teach-to-Learn Program is a new program that includes camera and editing training, access to select equipment, and a trauma-informed lens. Their goal is for it to be used by mission aligned non-profits with their respective community members. Currently it is being used in Growing Gardens and V.O.T.E., to meet people where they are at. Open Signal plans to launch a non-profit membership program in the future.



Serving Multnomah County and the Cities of Fairview, Gresham, Portland, Troutdale & Wood Village

- Open Signal has a new Director of Growth, Alley Pezanoski-Browne. She brings a wealth of knowledge, connections, and skills to the organization.
- Open Signal Offices will be closed; staff will be on mandatory PTO the last week of the year.
- MetroEast: John Lugton, Interim Community Director, shared general updates:
  - Interim Director Lugton and leadership team are keeping a positive outlook amidst transition and excited about opportunities this presents for the organization. He's staying focused on keeping morale high. Staff will take time off at the end of the year to recharge.
  - They had a great project with the Clean Rivers Coalition which works in two different spheres; three videos created are *Disconnection*, *Connection*, and Reconnection as we relate to water through a light lens of the Native American experience from 120 years ago to present day, as we are learning that certain first foods can be planted again in the banks of the Willamette River. They will also make some videos of the more urban approach to maintaining lawns and minimizing pesticides. There has been a nice tie in which has not just been the obvious ones like having the opportunity to work with the Columbia River Inter-Tribal Fish Commission and multiple agencies across the State, but also being able to interview Gresham hydrologist, Katie Holzer, a National Geographic superstar and happens to be a celebrity in that world, and we got to meet and interview a Gresham neighbor Cass, who lives right next to the creek where Beavers are building a dam. This project reintroducing us to a larger group of people and narrowing us down to locals as well.
  - They are finishing up a pilot episode of a show called Food Foray and will be editing it soon. They had a film crew shoot a video of a Georgian Gresham resident shopping at the Russian Deli, Babushka, in Wood Village, then went back to her house and she prepared a delicious meal and shared about her culture and living in Gresham.
  - MetroEast is piloting a BIPOC Contractors Program with a few previous volunteers that have worked on productions and have a higher level of interest. They have been able to join on quite a few productions to increase their skills to increase and the hope is that it will also increase their marketability.
  - Seth Ring, Director of Community Relations at MetroEast, shared educational updates along with a PowerPoint presentation:
    - They recently acquired through AmeriCorps and JVC Northwest Ben Pham; he's the digital inclusion outreach coordinator. Comparable to grant because they pay for most of his salary, and it helps MetroEast expand their programming. Ben helps with classes and is building an east county partnership index to help MetroEast increase expand their reach to other community partners and ways to connect with them.



Serving Multnomah County and the Cities of Fairview, Gresham, Portland, Troutdale & Wood Village

- Regarding digital inclusion, which Jessica Liu the Director of Equity and Inclusion, oversees, they have been working with the Rosewood Initiative hosting digital art nights. They teach people basic introductory skills digital and media skills on equipment such as iPads and phones.
- Just finished a Welcome to Computers class for Spanish speakers in Wood Village. Seth thanked Wood Village for providing laptops that were given to participants and MetroEast taught the class and wove in media skills.
- Regarding youth media education, MetroEast has a variety pack of things they are doing, primarily through the conduit of the mobile media innovation lab, which the MHCRC funded. It connected them with a lot of equipment and a vehicle to expand their outreach. They worked with Springwater Trail High School on a podcasting class. They've been highly valued at Gresham High School where they have a lot of kids in their multimedia classes and limited equipment. They are working right now with Gordon Russell Middle School on a commercial for a beverage that they'd like to market.
- Public media education has regularly programmed classes. They recently taught a Film with your Phone and YouTube class at the library. They worked with Life Source Oregon to do a Film with your iPad and iPhone type class for people with disabilities with special needs. They did some special workshops for ChickTech a group that empowers women to learn about technology. Seth thanked MHCRC for the ChickTech referral. They are prepping the Mobile Media Lab to do some initial shooting and photography in January; they are going to brand the vehicle to reflect the community it is trying to serve – BIPOC individuals, underserved groups, and low-income families. They used feedback from a community survey and an education advisory board and a survey that provided the direction that they will go. Asking an artist to create a mural for the side of the vehicle and integrate it with a video game style look, based on youth feedback. They recently got a \$75,000 grant for 2 years from the Miller Foundation to help power the Mobile Media Lab, specifically the operational costs, because MHCRC paid for the capital costs.
- In response to a question from Commissioner Brown regarding the artist Empow, Director Ring said Empow is not currently an artist on their list. They are putting together a list of BIPOC people to create the mural.

#### Franchisee Activity Report:

• Ziply: Not present



- Comcast: Tim Goodman, Senior Director of Government and Regulatory Affairs provided an update:
  - Comcast was the title sponsor at the NAYA Family Center Gala last month and raised the most money it's ever raised at their gala.
  - Comcast is getting ready to go into their second year of a billion-dollar effort around internet essentials and the inclusion for those who don't have internet or broadband and make it available to them. Comcast has committed \$100,000,000 every year for ten years and this will be year two of that. Director Goodman is bringing on a new member soon who will promote internet essentials into new areas may not have focused on before. That person will also represent Comcast on the Digital Inclusion Network.
  - This is the first year in mid-December that Comcast is not currently in the middle of contracts with program content providers/networks so there are no potential blackouts.

#### **CONSENT AGENDA**

- C1. September 20, 2021 Meeting Minutes
- C2. October 18, 2021 Meeting Minutes

**MOTION**: Commissioner Brown moved to approve the consent agenda as presented (C1 and C2). Motion seconded by Commissioner McIntire.

**VOTE**: Motion passed with 6 votes in favor and 0 against.

#### **REGULAR AGENDA**

R1. MHCRC FY 2020-21 Fund Audit

- MHCRC/OCT Finance Manager, Michael Wong provided an overview of the audit process.
  - The MHCRC's audited financial statements provide an external technical accounting review of the MHCRC Fund. Moss Adams provides reports summarizing two components: compliance of the MHCRC with the US generally accepted accounting principles and internal controls over financial activity (i.e., accruals, invoice billing, advances, etc.).
  - The purpose of the audit is to allow for an independent review of our reported financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
  - He provided a concise timeline of the audit progression.



Serving Multnomah County and the Cities of Fairview, Gresham, Portland, Troutdale & Wood Village

- Staff acknowledgements and recognitions for support during the audit include: Rana DeBey, Bea Coulter, Director Perez, and Moss Adams staff Kevin, Keith Simovic, and Nick Rowlands.
- Future improvements include checking in with Kevin to ensure accruals and journal entries are within compliance. Reviewing current variances and resolving identified issues with procedural enhancements that would be presented to the MHCRC committee at YE to comply with verification requirements on advances, accruals, and True up, especially for year-end activities.
- O He provided a budget update that includes beginning preliminary budget by presenting staff allocations to MHCRC activities; working with the City of Portland economist on interest growth model; disbursements for general fund have been completed by the City of Portland's Budget Office; expected completion for MHCRC Finance Committee review and later approval by MHCRC Committee in accordance with previous timeline; expect to submit audit to the Secretary of State before the end of the year.
- Keith Simovic, Senior Manager and CPA at Moss Adams shared a PowerPoint presentation:
  - Moss Adams team includes Amanda McCleary-Moore, CPA, Partner; Laurie J. Tish,
     CPA, Partner; Keith Simovic, CPA, Senior Manager; Nick Rowlands, CPA, Manager.
  - Nature of services is to express an opinion on whether the financial statements prepared by management with your oversight are fairly presented in all material respects, in accordance with a U.S. GAAP; To perform an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards issued by the AICPA and design the audit to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
  - Oritical areas include revenues, advances, and accounts receivable. IT User access and change management controls. They bring in an IT Team to look at the processes and who is in the system and control what they can too. This past year has changed risk assessment, so they were focused on the impact of the remote work environment. They focused on compliance with federal law and special report for Oregon minimum standards.
  - The audit was performed in a remote environment. Moss Adams utilized technology and electronic audit tools including internal controls testing of transactions before and after the COVID pandemic. Reports include financial statements, presented fair and accurately to produce an unmodified clean opinion.
  - Audit adjustments occur after all information has been received and after year-end closing. Something that was missing or not recorded appropriately. Two adjustments of "significant deficiency" that have been corrected: Entry to true up Advances for recoveries received but no recorded relating to FY 2021 (\$676,677); Entry to remove



Serving Multnomah County and the Cities of Fairview, Gresham, Portland, Troutdale & Wood Village

- accounts payable accruals that were not outstanding as of June 30, 2021 (\$535,561). No change to cash balances because of these adjustments.
- Passed Audit Adjustment: Entry to true up and accrue the PEG fees related to FY
   2021 (\$40,595). Some of fees are estimated at year-end, reflects difference between estimate and actual fees at year end.
- Recommendations related to adjustments, Advances and Accounts Payable. Moss Adams recommends that the Commission reconcile all advance recovery accounts, where they are related to a component unit or not, to ensure that advances at year end are accurate. Moss Adams recommends that the management establish procedure to review all memo entries to ensure that the account balances at year end are accurate for financial reporting purposes.
- o In response to Commissioner Brown about advance recovery, Simovic explained that the amount was recorded, but not recorded in the correct period. It should have been picked up earlier. Wong added that it was a timeframe issue, but financially speaking it would not affect expense standards and no one would have been paid twice had this not been caught.
- o In response to a question from Commissioner Harden regarding accounts payable accruals that were not outstanding as the year end, Simovic explained that something got recorded in duplicate that should not have been outside of SAP in an excel document; things were not paid twice; they were putting together a year-end financial statement document it was not being paid twice. It was year-end adjustments and manual entries that are done outside of the SAP that are outside of the internal controls. Wong provided background information on this that there were multiple procedures to do this in years prior, due to that, there were conflicting ways to go about it; therefore, the new procedure did not give us the cause-variation that cause that issue. To remedy this concern, there will be quarterly checks to ensure compliance.
- In response to a question from Commissioner McIntire, Wong wants to make sure there are procedures that are adequate to ensure these issues do not come about and that those steps are documented and approved for full compliance.
- Commissioner Thomas stated that the finance committee did recommend that the commission approve the auditor's report.

**MOTION**: Commissioner McIntire moved to accept the auditor's report for FY ending June 30, 2021. Motion seconded by Commissioner Brown.

**VOTE**: Motion passed with 6 votes in favor and 0 against.

R2. Community Technology Grant Amendment: Outside the Frame



Serving Multnomah County and the Cities of Fairview, Gresham, Portland, Troutdale & Wood Village

- Rana DeBey, Community Grants Manager, presented a Community Technology Grant amendment to Outside the Frame.
  - o Staff recommends that the commission approve an amendment to the current contract with Outside the Frame for an additional grant award of \$70,330. Outside the Frame is a longstanding community partner of the commission and a repeat grantee. Their work continues to expand in terms of content, community connections, and production value in large part due to the commission's investments in their projects. Expanded project sessions and increases in youth participants have created a shortage of sufficient capital equipment to support concurrent productions, trainings, and equipment checkouts all under the original project scope. The funding will be used to purchase more video production equipment to support the training of 50 additional youth, 10 additional apprentices, and to produce an additional 20 films which will be shared with the community, and to extend the term of the agreement to allow time to implement the expanded services. The additional grant award combined with the original amount comes to \$102,580. In response to Commissioner Brown regarding tracking outcomes, DeBey explained that all grantees complete a semi-annual reporting, and all grantees will need to speak to revisions and outcomes in future reports.

**MOTION**: Commissioner Thomas McIntire moved to approve the Community Technology Grant amendment for Outside the Frame for an additional grant award of \$70,330 (R2). Motion seconded by Commissioner McIntire.

**VOTE**: Motion passed with 6 votes in favor and 0 against.

#### R3. Community Technology Grant Amendment: The Old Church

- DeBey presented a Community Technology Grant amendment for The Old Church.
  - Staff recommends that the commission approve an amendment to the current contract with The Old Church for an additional grant award of \$21,735. The original project proposal included capital cost to upgrade the broadcasting and live streaming equipment in their concert hall to allow for more and better-quality productions. Immediately following project implementation, staff at The Old Church experienced an increase in artists using their new video capabilities that exposed some shortcomings in their originally proposed project upgrades. They are requesting additional funding to support the increased demands for more audio equipment and additional monitor mixers. The additional better-quality equipment will allow them to capture technically excellent recorded audio and expand the number of artists who perform at the facility, as well as increase the number of



Serving Multnomah County and the Cities of Fairview, Gresham, Portland, Troutdale & Wood Village

recorded video programs that can be shared with the broader community – two additional programs per month working with MetroEast Community Media. The additional grant award combined with the previously granted amount will bring the total grant award to \$67,247.

- o In response to a question from Chair Studenmund, DeBey shared that The Old Church is working with MetroEast and have not yet submitted any videos yet.
- Commissioner Dennerline wants to ensure that these funds to not go to commercial aspects or ventures and that MetroEast is getting programming from them by October.
- O In response to a question from Commissioner Brown regarding fundraising efforts by The Old Church, DeBey shared that The Old Church has additional money they are trying to raise to complete the entire upgrade beyond the ask they've submitted to the commission. The Old Church also has the money in their operational reserve, so they are moving forward with the portion they are asking from the Commission immediately. Their plan is to continue to expand and upgrade the production equipment after additional funds are raised in the future.

**MOTION**: Commissioner Brown moved to approve the Community Technology Grant amendment for The Old Church for an additional grant award of \$21,735 (R3). Motion seconded by Commissioner Harden.

**VOTE**: Motion passed with 6 votes in favor and 0 against.

#### Staff Updates:

- Director Perez presented updates regarding the Comcast Renewal. The Comcast Franchise expires at the end of 2021. In September 2021, MHCRC and Comcast formally agreed to extend the negotiations by three months to March 31, 2022. There is an evergreen clause in the contract so the franchises can continue as-is until an agreement is reached on the new franchise. Negotiations are continuing in good faith and have two critical items and a handful of smaller issues where resolution is needed. PEG fees and I-net wind-down are the two major issues that are still in discussion. Once final terms are agreed upon, there will be an additional six months likely for drafting the final franchise agreement for each jurisdiction, jurisdictional review and legal review and public hearings for each city and the county, jurisdictional approval, and there is an extra process mandated by the City of Portland, where there is one month between readings and cannot enact the franchise for an additional six months. Staff speaks with Comcast weekly.
- DeBey, presented updates regarding the Community Technology Grant process. The deadline for grant applications was December 8, 2021. Fourteen pre-applications have been



Serving Multnomah County and the Cities of Fairview, Gresham, Portland, Troutdale & Wood Village

received, nine of those are first-time applicants. Grant requests total approximately \$1,120,000. DeBey will be doing an initial review for eligibility the coming week and will send out the review materials to commissioners early next week. Commissioners will have until mid-January to review the preapplication materials. A specific timeline will be provided. In response to Commissioner Brown, DeBey states that they track everyone who applies and those that are awarded grants.

- DeBey provided an update on the Community Media Centers Contract renewal. Due to the ongoing delays in the timeline with the franchise renewal with Comcast and the upcoming franchise renewal with Ziply, the Community Media Centers, MetroEast and Open Signal along with MHCRC staff have mutually decided to extend the current contract for one year to which will allow them to get through the franchise renewal and get all the information needed to move forward. In the meantime, MHCRC staff are meeting regularly with both community media centers representatives for informal discussions about what the formal contract renewal will look like. Formal discussions will take place next fiscal year. In response to Commissioner Thomas, DeBey states that the extension will need to be approved by the MHCRC commission in the Spring; the current contract ends June 30<sup>th</sup>.
- Rebecca Gibbons, Strategic Initiatives Manager provided an updated on the MHCRC annual
  planning retreat which usually takes place in February. Gibbons states that planning is
  underway and that a facilitator will be hired for the retreat. Commissioners can expect goals
  and outcomes to approve at the January meeting ahead of the retreat. A Doodle poll will be
  sent out to determine a February date for the retreat. In response to a question from
  Commissioner Thomas, Gibbons states that timeline format will be explored under new
  business and options for virtual vs. in-person retreat options will be brought up by Chair
  Studenmund.
- Wong provided a general overview on the FY2022-2023 budget process. The preliminary budget process began with allocating out personnel costs among MHCRC activities. The next steps include working with the City of Portland Economist on the interest growth model to see how that will fare conceptually within the entirety of the budget in the coming year and figuring out the jurisdictional appropriation which is calculated based upon Comcast subscriber counts which should come from Comcast at the end of December. The timeline and expected completion for the overall budget proposal should be in accordance with that of the previous year at which point the proposal will be drafted and review with the finance committee prior to submission to the entirety of the current committee.

#### Committee Reports:

- Finance Committee Commissioner Thomas states there is nothing further to report.
- Equity Committee Did not meet

# Mt. Hood Cable Regulatory Commission Serving Multnomah County and the Cities of Fairview, Gresham, Portland, Troutdale & Wood Village

- Policy Committee Did not meet
- Open Signal Board Appointee Commissioner Brown reported that in addition to what Gibbons presented, there have been a lot of changes at Open Signal. Open Signal has planned changes they are moving forward on. They are still looking for a treasurer.
   Commissioner Brown met with two Open Signal finance staff and they have a good handle on their finances. They are currently preparing for an audit and prepping for a migration to a new financial system.
- MetroEast Board Appointee Commissioner Dennerline was not able to attend last board meeting at MetroEast. Tommy is gone. The board elected a new chair and John is the interim director.

Chair Studenmund wished Commissioner Brown and McIntire well as they are both stepping down. Commissioners wished them well and Commissioners Brown and McIntire shared parting comments about their experience on the board and plans.

#### New Business; Commissioner Open Comment

- Chair Studenmund brought up hybrid meetings. According to the City, beginning in January, the commission needs to have meetings available to be in-person in some way. Commissioners discussed pros and cons. Commissioner feels comfortable with meeting inperson and giving others the option to join via Zoom. Commissioner Dennerline can go either way in terms of meeting in person or virtually. He states on one hand, it's better to be safe with Zoom Meetings especially with the current Omicron variant, but on the other hand, with precautions, meeting in-person is no problem either. A big factor for him is that anyone attending in person should be vaccinated. Commissioner Thomas is in favor of hybrid but supports masking for in-person gatherings of any kind. Commissioner McIntire feels that if the Commission can control the environment by having only vaccinated individuals it may not be as risky but worries about the civil rights issues of having people provide proof they are vaccinated. She notes that the COVID-19 surge is likely to continue through the winter months. Commissioner Brown states that if the Commission were to meet in-person, he recommends it be in a quasi-outdoor space, or high ceilings and plenty of fresh air circulation. Chair Studenmund noted the current surge and is concerned about meeting in-person in January. She recommends taking it month-by-month to ensure everyone's safety especially due to the rapidly changing and volatile pandemic. Commissioners agree about meeting virtually in January and providing a space for the public meeting aspect to comply.
- In terms of the retreat, Gibbons posited, given the uncertainty, it makes the most sense to plan the retreat remotely. Commissioner Thomas shared that meeting remotely would work



better for him. Commissioner Dennerline shared that to err on the side of caution is better. Commissioner Studenmund misses the comradery of being together in person but agrees about erring on the side of caution. Commissioner Harden posed the question of changing retreat schedule to one day vs. two days. A poll can be sent to commissioners to get their preferences, but it seems like virtual is the best way to plan the fast-approaching retreat in February. Commissioner Thomas suggested targeting specific subjects to condense the retreat to one day. Commissioner Harden stated that some elements will need to remain, noting that with three new committee members, icebreakers are important.

- Chair Studenmund reviewed the upcoming 2022 Meeting Schedule:
  - o January 24
  - February Retreat: TBD
  - o March 21
  - April Recess
  - o May 16
  - June 20

#### Public Comment:

Commissioner Studenmund looking forward to grant application process and wishes everyone to have a wonderful holiday season. Commissioner Harden will be joining Director Perez on several committees, to learn about lobbying strategy at the state and federal level, and he is looking forward to it. Commissioner McIntire wishes everyone happy holidays and will send MHCRC holiday card to Gresham City Council now.

**MOTION**: Commissioner Dennerline moved to adjourn. Motion seconded by Commissioner Thomas. Motion carried.

Adjourned: 8:10 PM by Chair Studenmund.

Respectfully submitted, Ava Hansen, BSW Executive Assistant

Please notify the MHCRC no less than five (5) business days prior to our event for ADA accommodations at 503-823-5385, by the City of Portland's TTY at 503-823-6868, or by the Oregon Relay Service at 1-800-735-2900.

## **REGULAR AGENDA**



#### **COVER SHEET – AGENDA ITEM #R1**

For Commission Meeting: January 24, 2022

"Awarding Grant Dollars Through Amendments Policy"

#### Recommendation:

Staff recommends that the MHCRC <u>accept</u> this proposed policy as shared understanding and direction to staff.

#### Background

In response to identified need, MHCRC staff is proposing the following *temporary* policy for reviewing and processing amendments to current grant contracts which are requesting additional grant dollars. Staff would like to pilot this policy given the need within our grantee community. This policy will be in effect from December 1, 2021 to December 31, 2022, on a trial basis. This trial period will allow us to be responsive to community need and a continuously changing landscape in which grantees are being required to pivot due to ongoing COVID-19 complications.

Attachment: Awarding Grant Dollars through Amendments Policy 2022

Prepared By: Rana DeBey

January 14, 2022

#### **Awarding Grant Dollars through Amendments**

Proposed Temporary Policy, December 2021 – December 31, 2022

prepared by Rana DeBey
(December 23, 2021)



In response to identified need, MHCRC staff is proposing the following *temporary* policy for reviewing and processing amendments to current grant contracts which are requesting additional grant dollars. Staff would like to pilot this policy given the need within our grantee community. This policy will be in effect from December 2021 to December 31, 2022, on a trial basis. This trial period will allow us to be responsive to community need and a continuously changing landscape in which grantees are being required to pivot due to ongoing COVID-19 complications. At the end of that time, the policy will be reviewed by the MHCRC staff and Commissioners, revisions discussed and/or incorporated, and could be renewed for an additional, yet-to-be-determined period of time.

Why amend current grants with additional grant dollars? Why not just have applicants re-apply?

- → It helps the MHCRC to remain grantee-centered and responsive to the needs of our communities. The MHCRC has a reputation amongst our community partners of being as flexible and responsive as possible. By putting a simple written amendment on current grant agreements, we can help nonprofits use our grant dollars to alleviate unforeseen burdens or address other unexpected needs due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.
- → **Grant amendments require less administrative** work on the part of the grantee, freeing up their capacity to stay focused on project implementation as opposed to paperwork.
- → Current grantees have already been vetted by MHCRC staff during the application process. Supporting current grantees that are <u>in good standing</u> with additional grant dollars helps to support our shared community-focused goals: to support use of technology resources for a public benefit, to increase production of video content shared with the CMCs and to ultimately reduce disparities among underserved communities.
- → The COVID-19 pandemic has made for uncertainty about organizational capacity, equipment costs/needs, ability to access specific equipment due to supply chain issues, and/or proposed target community's level of engagement. Grantees did their best in a very uncertain time to propose well thought out projects. However, as the pandemic continues into its second year, many grantees from this time period have communicated that either elements of their project have had to pivot, they are struggling to source certain types of equipment, or they are experiencing a higher-than-expected participation rate.
- → **Funding:** as noted in the unaudited financial report, the MHCRC has a remaining balance of grant funds as a result of reduced funding to I-Net projects due to the 621 Order in 2019 and more conservative grant making during the initial COVID-19 shut down. *It benefits all of our communities to get these public benefit dollars to the people and programs that need it most.*

#### **Eligibility Requirements:**

- 1. Grantee must be in good standing with the MHCRC (i.e. responsive to MHCRC staff, up to date on required reporting, providing necessary financial documentation as requested, and reporting project implementation progress/successes)
- 2. Rationale for additional requested grant dollars must be clearly documented and well justified.
- 3. Grant dollars must clearly support the originally proposed project goals and activities of the originally approved grant project.

#### Process:

Awarding additional grant dollars through amendments will not be advertised.

At times, current grantees reach out to MHCRC staff to ask if an amendment is possible due to an identified increased need for additional grant dollars to support the approved project purpose. If this occurs, and grantee meets above requirements, then:

- → Requests will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.
- → Community Grants Manager will confirm with supervisory staff that there are sufficient funds to consider the grant Amendment.
- → MHCRC staff will ask grantee to submit documentation indicating:
  - o Rationale for increased grant award amount
  - Revisions to Measurable Project Outcomes
  - o Revisions to Implementation Plan (project timeline), if warranted
  - Revisions to Line-Item Budget table
  - Revisions to Matching Resources
  - List of requested equipment
- → MHCRC staff will share the initial documentation with members of the Equity Committee. The Equity Committee members will provide staff with input indicating support for bringing a formal amendment as a Committee recommendation to the MHCRC for approval.
- → Equity Committee presents the Amendment along with supporting documentation at a public MHCRC meeting for approval.

#### Funding Availability:

As noted in the FY20-21 unaudited financial report, the MHCRC has a grant fund balance due to reduced funding for I-Net projects as a result of the 621 Order in 2019, and more conservative grant making during the initial COVID-19 community-wide shut down. We now have funding available to easily be responsive to the changing needs of our current grantee community.

This is a trial period (December 2021 to December 31, 2022). If this policy is renewed, in each year thereafter, the availability of funds to support an Amendment will be evaluated by both MHCRC staff and Commissioners.



#### **COVER SHEET – AGENDA ITEM #R2**

For Commission Meeting: January 24, 2022

"Grant Amendment: CETI"

#### Staff Recommendation

Staff recommends that the Commission approve an amendment to the current contract with grantee The Old Church for an additional grant award amount of \$41,000.

#### **Background/Discussion**

The Commission approved a grant agreement in June 2021 in the amount of \$76,867 for the purpose of providing the Commission's grant funds for CETI's Xrchive: Creating Social Documentary Experiences project. The agreement is set to expire November 30, 2022

Grantee's work on Xrchive has been proceeding. Due to complications related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, Grantee has identified the need to produce more videos for training and workshops to allow for remote (virtual) access. In addition, some of the planned tours will be spaced out and implemented outdoors, including interactive technology components (for both increased access by targeted community members and safety of broader community given the currently required COVID-19 mitigations). Additional technology requested will allow Grantee to increase training participants to 60 from identified communities and increase number of videos produced to share with broader community to 8 total.

The additional grant award of \$41,000 combined with the already granted amount will bring the total grant award amount to \$117,867.

Attachment: CETI Amendment (Final Draft)

Prepared By: Rana DeBey

January 13, 2022

#### AGREEMENT FOR COMMUNITY TECHNOLOGY GRANT

This is an Amendment to the Agreement for Community Technology Grant (Agreement) between the Mt. Hood Cable Regulatory Commission (Commission), through the Office for Community Technology (OCT), and CETI (Grantee) (together referred to as the "Parties").

#### RECITALS

- 1. The Commission approved an Agreement in June 2021 for the purpose of providing the Commission's grant funds in the amount of \$76,867 for the Grantee's Xrchive: Creating Social Documentary Experiences project. The Agreement is set to expire November 30, 2022.
- 2. Grantee's work on Xrchive has been proceeding. Due to complications related to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, Grantee has identified the need to produce more videos for training and workshops to allow for remote (virtual) access. In addition, some of the planned tours will be spaced out and implemented outdoors, including interactive technology components (for both increased access by targeted community members and safety of broader community given the currently required COVID-19 mitigations). Additional technology requested will allow Grantee to increase training participants to 60 from identified communities and increase number of videos produced to share with broader community to 8 total.
- 3. This Amendment awards additional grant funds in the amount of \$41,000 in support of the project expansion as described in Attachment A to this Amendment.
- 4. This Amendment extends the term of the Agreement through March 31, 2023.
- 5. Any change in the amount of the Grant funds or the financial risks under this Agreement must be approved by vote of the Commission. Agreement Section 13.

#### AGREEMENT

- 1. Agreement, Section 1, Grant Amount, Use of Grant, is amended to include an additional grant award of \$41,000, for a total grant award amount of \$117,867 for specific capital costs related to the revised grant project as described in Attachment A.
- 2. Agreement Section 3, Payments, is amended to require that, no later than February 28, 2023, Grantee must have completed all expenditures made from Grant funds for Grant project capital costs and provided receipts or other evidence of payment for actual grant funded capital costs to the Project Manager in order to be paid under the Agreement terms.
- 3. Agreement Section 5, Reports, is amended to include the additional Interim reporting periods: July 1, 2022 through December 31, 2022. Grantee shall submit a Final Report by March 31, 2023, summarizing the activities and accomplishments of the entire Grant.
- 4. Agreement Section 14, Term of the Agreement, is amended to extend the term of the Agreement through, and including, March 31, 2023.
- 5. All other terms of the Agreement shall remain the same.

CETI:	Mt. Hood Cable Regulatory Commission:		
By:	By: Carol Studenmund, Commission Chair		
Title:	Date:		
Date:	Approved as to Form:		
	Commission Legal Counsel		

#### ATTACHMENT A: REVISED PROJECT PLAN

#### RATIONALE FOR ADDENDUM:

We are requesting an additional amount of \$40,000 in technology and \$1,000 in overhead (total \$41,000). We have also added to the match to ensure it meets the required match amount. The requested amount allows us to address changes needed due to the pandemic - using different tech to share work outdoors and in more accessible spaces, and to stream more of our workshops and trainings. We will, as a result, have significant additional amounts of video content that is impactful to share through the community media channels.

Our request for additional, amended funding is due to the ongoing dynamic nature of the pandemic. We realize that we need to stream and produce more videos of training and workshops to allow for remote access. In addition, some of the tours will be spaced out and implemented outdoors (for increased access and safety). These are also in response to the increased enthusiasm by the community for these educational experiences in tech and video production, to augment the highly impacted educational experiences these past 2 years. We believe these additional videos we produce - of training and of process and documentation (to be streamed on community media) will be valuable content for education and workforce training in these new media for the coming few years.

We have already begun work on XRchive, the conditions of the pandemic have influenced changes in the project resulting in our request for an amended budget.

- a. The project remains the same but increasing access to remote video content training especially for youth/workforce education is needed as the pandemic is ongoing. We would like to stream more of our workshops and trainings, and since there is demand (to augment youth/workforce training programs that are also impacted), we will make at least 5 additional videos of the workshops, speakers, and trainings to share on community media (Open Signal is excited to have this content as well). Some of the technology requested will support this significant additional video production.
- b. Closure of spaces means:
  - i. We will also add more content as web VR or AR experiences to be more remotely accessible and socially distanced. For this, we need an additional desktop and a cintiq as well as a couple of ipad pros and intuos tablet for creating content. We will produce videos that document these experiences for viewing on community media channels through Open signal.
- c. This is particularly relevant to youth as other educational experiences have been impacted.
- d. Participants want additional tours and experiences, especially in the field and to show off the digital murals created and the interactive components alongside. We will need additional technology for that including projectors that work in daylight and that can address interactivity. We will create video documentation of these interactive murals and experiences and share the videos on the community media channels.
- e. There is a need for more mobile technology that we can take to sites for creation and projections.
- f. **Supply chain issues:** Things have been backordered or discontinued and as there have been delays in equipment, we have realized the scope of the project needs to change and the types of equipment needed.

g. The delay in equipment has led to more creative brainstorming, recruitment of partners and listening sessions about content. We have had more than 80 participants so far and interest form several new community and industry partners to engage in this as a participatory learning and workforce training. We have now engaged with Parkrose NPI, RAHS/POIC, PYB, APANO, Albina Vision Trust, Portland Street Art Alliance, Streeted, Don't Shoot Portland, the Albina Arts Salon, PSU (many departments), NE STEAM Coalition, Outside the Frame, Vanport Mosaic, tech/design companies, RACC, OMPA, Western Arts Alliance, Camp Elso.

As a result of the community conversations, we will be using the equipment for more tours (at least 3 in the spring) and creating more content (educational, historic, cultural, and challenging power) with more participants than originally planned. Planned XR experiences now include:

- i. Recreating and education around the Albina Mural project: a series of murals commissioned for building in the Albina District around themes of black history and revolution. These Murals painted over 50 years ago have not been preserved and there was a strong interest in recreating these;
- ii. The Albina Jazz clubs creating soundscapes and videos;
- iii. XR experiences at the Lone Fir Cemetery around stories of the unmarked graves of Chinese Labourers;
- iv. Digitally Covering up/altering/replacing symbols of inequity with alternate stories statues, portraits in the art museum and other spaces;
- v. Creating digital murals and experiences of beauty and inspiration in places in Portland impacted by violence and harm.

All of these experiences will be documented through videos that include interviews with the creators and show elements of the process.

Changes to our plan as a result include: We still plan for a summer show but would like to stage the content creation in 2 stages so would like to extend the grant to March 2023 (from fall 2022)

#### REVISED IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PROJECT TIMELINE):

Spring 2022: Project Video/VR asset creation.

- Community events to create assets around specific XR tours/themes.
- Hold trainings in technology and techniques as needed, have community lab support hours. Putting the Pieces Together
- Test/create prototypes for app;
- Show some final content with test app in May show.
- Perhaps in multiple places school in NE portland,
- Start building web content, vr version.

**Summer 2022:** Crafting Stories and Experiences. Sharing the work

- Create multiple experiences with content:
- multiple tours based on teams' interests and narrative vision;
- build out (web) vr version; interview participants to create documentary video of process/experience.
- Launch prototype tours, website

#### Fall 2022 Project Completion

- Create the videos of workshops for Open Signal and Metro East Community Media

#### **Spring 2023**

- Create the videos of experiences and documentation for Open Signal and Metro East Community Media
- Final review with participants and leads for feedback.
- Complete eval report.
- Share content with community media channels and partners for broadcast

#### **REVISED MEASUREABLE PROJECT OUTCOMES:**

- We will ensure that at least **60** participants (previously 40) from identified communities (underrepresented groups in STEAM: communities of color and/or women, immigrants, first generation college students, native students, English language learners, LGBTQ+ communities, people with disabilities, and low-income communities) will be trained to create culturally relevant content around the XRchive theme of social justice. Training will occur through (virtual) workshops and tutorials, regular project work with a team including mentors and advisors, through community lab support and virtual trouble shooting hours, and asynchronous conversations on our discord platform. Participants will gain relevant skills on the technology xr, video production, creating with vr/360 video, and to work/collaborate with experts /professionals in these (grant-funded) technologies.
- We will produce **eight** videos (previously 3) to share with the community media centers. Videos will include content from 5 relevant trainings (previously 2), 3 interviews with participants, 3 speakers, and documentation of the tours (with at least 10 short pieces of the content created for XRchive with relevant research and interviews) for broadcast through the Community Media's channels.

#### **REVISED LINE-ITEM BUDGET:**

\*bolded are revised figures

Category	Grant Funds	Matching funds	Project Total
Personnel	\$ -	\$ 105,000.00	\$ 105,000.00
Education and Training	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Travel	\$ -	\$ 1,000.00	\$ 1,000.00
Contractual	\$ -	\$ 72,200.00	\$ 72,200.00
Equipment	\$ 105,307.00	\$ 6,750.00	\$ 112,057.00
Infrastructure/Facilities (Construction)	\$ 4,560.00	\$ 1,440.00	\$ 6,000.00
Miscellaneous	\$ -	\$ 17,500.00	\$ 17,500.00
Overhead	\$ 8,000.00	\$ 7,687.85	\$ 15,687.85
Total	\$ 117,867.00	\$ 211,577.85	\$ 329,444.85

#### **REVISED BUDGET NARRATIVE:**

**Match:** We have applied for more funding support for personnel and operations as XRchive will likely become a long-term project. We have applied for grants from the NEA, Metro, Office of Gun Violence. We will be applying for funding from the NSF, Marie Lamfrom Foundation and from the Miller Foundation. The project match for the updated request will be easily met.

#### Personnel:

**Project Director.** The Project Director will work at a rate of \$125/hr for 20 months for a cost to the

project of \$30,000

**Grant Funds: \$0 Match: \$30,000** 

**Project Leads/Support (Communications)**. An estimated total of about 700 - 1000 hours at \$50-\$100/hr Includes technical/design/communication leads. The total cost to the project will be \$70,000.

**Grant Funds: \$0 Match: \$70,0000** 

Total Personnel Costs: \$1,050,000

-----

Travel:

**Grant Funds: \$0** 

Match: \$1000 (more transportation for participants to visit lab for training, and fo visit sites for content

creation)

Total Travel Costs: \$1,000

\_\_\_\_\_

**Workshop/Training Instructors and Lab Support**. At an hourly rate of \$75, for an estimated total of around 400 -500 hours (more streaming, smaller workshops for social distancing). The total cost to the project will be \$30,000.

**Grant Funds:** \$0 **Match:** \$30,000

**App/Tech Developers:** We will contract with an appropriate tech development team to create the apps tour/game and specific expert tech needed for the vr components for a total of 200 hours (since it is now multiple tours). At \$100 per hour, the total cost to the project is \$20,000. Funding will likely be in-kind from tech/industry partners.

**Grant Funds:** \$0 **Match:** \$20,000

**Technology Installation/Maintenance**. PSU College of the Arts Technology Staff will help procure and install grant technology, and will provide ongoing maintenance for the project's equipment. Estimated Cost (rate \$75/hr): 40 hrs initial procurement/installation + 4 hrs a month for the duration of project).

**Grant Funds:** \$0 **Match:** \$10,200

Total Contractual Costs: \$72,200

#### **EQUIPMENT**

Technology requests from MHCRC. We do like having a range of tech available for those who like to code, like to draw digitally, like to make hands-on. The lab will be available for community use several hours a week so this tech will be a resource for the entire community.

Additional equipment based on revised and expanded scope of project:

- 1. 10000 lumen daylight projector + access for interactive projections outdoors (\$18,000)
- 2. One 5000 lumen short throw projector for interactive projections in space + access (\$6,000)
- 3. Content creation pen display/tablet computer wacom cintiq pro 32 + access (\$4,000) + 2 intuos tablets (\$1,000)
- 4. Content creation + interactive app creation 2 ipad pros (\$2,500)
- 5. Video/3D experience creation one desktop + monitor (\$6,000)
- 6. Professional Streaming equipment (\$2,500)

#### Total Additional Amount Requested for Equipment: \$40,000

Total new grant amount for Equipment: \$105,307

#### Overhead

This includes a 5% overhead for financial accounting and personnel time tracking systems, utilities, insurance for tech and events, office supplies, and office space/accounts necessary to support this project.

**Grant Funds:** \$8,000 **Match:** \$7,687.85

Total Additional Amount Requested for Overhead: \$1,000

Total Overhead Costs: 15,687.85



#### **COVER SHEET – AGENDA ITEM #R3**

For Commission Meeting: January 24, 2022

"Preliminary Funding Decisions: 2022 Community Technology Grants"

The Commission has budgeted \$900,000 to grant in the 2022 competitive grant cycle under the Community Technology Grants program.

Commissioners received information for its decision-making process, including the grant Pre-Applications and evaluation instructions.

#### Background

The Commission's decision-making process is as follows:

- 1. 14 Pre-Applications were received by the December deadline; 13 Pre-Applications met the grant eligibility criteria and were forwarded on to the Commission for review.
- 2. Each Commissioner reads, evaluates and scores each Pre-Application in preparation for the preliminary funding decision making meeting.
- 3. At the January 24th meeting, the MHCRC will decide which Pre-Applications it would like to invite to apply for funding within the published funding guidelines.
- 4. Selected applicants are invited to fill out a full online grant application.
- 5. MHCRC staff drafts grant contracts for applicants who have successfully completed an online grant application to staff's satisfaction. Not all applicants who are selected in the Pre-Application process will necessarily receive a grant award.
- 6. The MHCRC approves grant contracts at future MHCRC meetings.

Prepared By: Rana DeBey

January 10, 2022

#### STAFF REPORT AGENDA ITEM #R4

For Commission Meeting: January 24, 2022

"Authorize Moss Adams for MHCRC FY2021-22, FY2022-23, and FY2023-24 Fund Audits"

#### Recommendation

Staff recommends that the MHCRC authorize Moss Adams to perform the MHCRC FY2021-22, FY2022-23, and FY2023-24 Fund Audits in accordance with the Moss Adams contract with the City of Portland.

#### Background

The MHCRC is required to obtain an annual audit of its financial statements, as a "municipal corporation." (Governing statutes: http://www.leg.state.or.us/ors/297.html; specifically, ORS297.405 Sub 5 Sub F, 297.415, 297.425 and 297.465)

The MHCRC has authorized Moss Adams to perform its annual audit since FY2012-13 through the City of Portland contract. Moss Adams has gained knowledge and understanding of the MHCRC and component unit (Open Signal and MetroEast) finances over these years making it cost effective for the MHCRC to continue to retain Moss Adams audit services.

The City of Portland contracted with Moss Adams through a competitive RFP process. The contract includes the MHCRC Fund audits for fiscal years 2021-22, 2022-23, and 2023-24. For fiscal years 2024-25 and 2025-26, the City contract contains options to extend audit services.

The MHCRC FY2021-22 budget contains funds for Moss Adams to conduct the FY2021-22 audit.

> Prepared By: Michael Wong January 19, 2022



#### **COVER SHEET -- AGENDA ITEM #R5**

For Commission Meeting: January 24, 2022

"MHCRC Planning Retreat Goals"

#### **Staff Recommendation**

Staff recommends that the Commission adopt the following goals for its upcoming planning retreat:

- Provide an opportunity for Commissioners and staff to strengthen working relationships.
- Refresh on the Commission's current and upcoming projects.
- Explore possible governance models and review the strategic planning process to assess future mission and direction of the Commission.
- Revisit the Commission's operating agreements, meeting protocols, and officer election process.
- Complete an evaluation of staff services.

Prepared by: Rebecca Gibbons

January 19, 2022

## **INFORMATION ONLY**